
TOWN OF 

NEW LONDON, NEW HAMPSHIRE 
375 MAIN STREET • NEW LONDON, NH  03257 • WWW.NL-NH.COM 

  

BOARD OF SELECTMEN 

MEETING MINUTES 

APRIL 28, 2008 

 
PRESENT: 

Mark Kaplan (Selectman) 
Brian Prescott (Selectman) 
Larry Ballin (Selectman) 
Jessie Levine (Town Administrator) 
Debbie Cross, InterTown Record 
Anna Super, Argus Champion 
 
Mark Kaplan opened the meeting at 8 a.m., and the Board addressed twelve areas of business.   
 
Minutes – April 21, 2008: Larry Ballin moved to accept. Brian Prescott seconded. No further 
discussion.  Motion unanimously approved.   
 
Ortho Flyover Project: Jessie Levine said the Cartographic vans have started putting markers 
down in Town.  The plane will probably fly over and take the photos on a clear day within the 
next few weeks, as they wish to do it before the trees are in full foliage.  These photographs will 
then be combined with the Town’s digital maps.   
 
2008 – 2009 Services: 
 
Jessie Levine said that the Budget Committee and Board of Selectmen had asked her to look into 
going to bid for certain services, and she has begun the process but wanted to keep the Selectmen 
informed. 
 
o Audit Services: Jessie Levine reminded the Selectmen that this year the cost of auditing 

services went up 40%, and that the Budget Committee asked her to look into the possibility of 
going out to bid for those services.  She noted that the concern is not with Plodzik and 
Sanderson’s quality of service, but only with the cost.  As things turned out, Plodzik and 
Sanderson had to spend even more time this year on the Town’s auditing because, given 
events in the market, New London’s Trustees of the Trust Funds pulled many of the Town’s 
accounts out of the Public Deposit Investment Pool and reinvested those funds into a variety 
of trusts with A.G. Edwards. Each had to be looked at separately by the auditors.  The fact 
that there are multiple funds with multiple investments increases the auditors’ time spent 
reviewing Town transactions. 

 
She said she did have a discussion with the auditor about the Town considering soliciting bids 
for auditing next year, and he suggested that she speak with other towns who have done that.  
He told her that in some of the cases when towns opted to go out for bid (such as Hanover 
and Sunapee), Plodzik and Sanderson chose not to submit a bid, due to the high volume of 
work that auditing now entails.  He believes that had Plodzik submitted bids for current 
clients, the proposed fee would have been much higher than the pre-bid fee, because it would 
have leveled the playing field for all audit firms.  He believes that most towns have seen an 
increase in fees since going to bid. 



Town of New London  April 28, 2008 
Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes Page 2 of 6 
 
 

Jessie Levine said that the environment for auditors has changed over the past few years due 
to additional requirements handed down from GASB.  Many auditors have not renewed 
contracts with clients that pose more challenges because of the extra time spent and the 
additional cost to the clients.   
 
Following that conversation, Jessie Levine contacted a number of towns that have gone out to 
bid for auditing services, and so far, without exception, those Towns have reported back to 
her that the bids they received were 30-50% higher than what they had been paying for 
auditing services in the first place.  Her concern now is that if New London goes out to bid, 
they will end up paying more for the same auditor (if the current auditor chooses to bid).  She 
said she will summarize in writing the results of her informal survey among other towns prior 
to asking the Selectmen for final direction. 
 

o Planning. She said that she has spoken with the Upper Valley Lake Sunapee Regional 
Planning Commission about how their planning costs would compare to the Town’s current 
contract with Ken McWilliams.  Newbury and Sunapee may be also interested in planning 
services from the UVLSRPC, though pricing would not reflect any group discount because 
the RPC already serves the region and could not offer any towns a lower price than any other. 
Though that Commission would not give the three towns competitive pricing, it still would be 
beneficial to have the tri-town arrangement.  The savings in using the Commission’s planning 
services would be the difference between paying an independent planner $52.50 per hour and 
the Commission $45 per hour (about $2800 per year based on 400 hours).  She reminded 
Selectmen that Ken McWilliams has the contract to complete the update on the Town’s 
Master Plan.  

 
Mark Kaplan said that in the past, point has been made that the contracted planner is more 
familiar with the zoning specific to New London, and that he has always provided good 
advice to the Board and attendees during hearings and meetings. Jessie Levine agreed, but 
said that the Zoning Administrator has extensive familiarity with New London’s zoning and 
other regulations.  Mark Kaplan agreed, saying that with that in mind, perhaps New London 
does not need to hire additional expertise. Jessie Levine said it is not that the town does not 
need the additional planning expertise, but that it does not need to hire someone with 
additional familiarity with the local regulations.   
 
This subject will be discussed further and will include the Planning Board. 

 
o Household Hazardous Waste Collections: Jessie Levine reminded Selectmen that at one point 

in time, New London held a hazardous waste collection day on its own every two years, then 
it decided to join with the towns that use the UVLSRPC to manage the waste drives, which 
enabled them to have one every year.  She said that there have been an increasing number of 
requests that New London have one in town at least once a year.  At this meeting, she 
proposed that Selectmen go ahead and sign the agreement with UVLSRPC to join with other 
towns in holding regional household-hazardous-waste collection days in Newport on July 12, 
in Newbury on August 16, in Lebanon on August 23 and October 18. In addition, she said 
that New London, Newbury, and Sunapee have budgeted for a waste drive in each town. That 
gives people a total of six opportunities to dispose of household hazardous waste.   

 
She said the Regional Planning Commission can handle both types of the collection days, or 
New London can handle the cost of those last two itself.  Larry Ballin asked if these 
collection days generate fees. Jessie Levine said no, so far, the Town has not collected fees to 



Town of New London  April 28, 2008 
Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes Page 3 of 6 
 
 

dispose of hazardous waste. She did say the State offers a small grant. Last year that was in 
the amount of $500.  Larry Ballin said given the trend now—that is, the Town is looking at 
going to a pay-as-you-throw system, and also the fact that the Town is now having to deal 
with e-waste, he suggested looking into making this a fee based service.   

 
Safe Routes to School Grant:  Jessie Levine explained that this is a DOT sponsored grant 
program to encourage safe bicycling and walking to school.  It is a federally funded program to 
encourage students including those with disabilities, who live within two miles of their schools to 
safely walk or ride bicycles to and from school.  She said that Chad Denning, Recreation 
Director, has been working on a grant application that could be used to construct a sidewalk from 
the Kidder building to Birch Acres and Job Seamans. Mark Kaplan asked if they know the cost of 
that yet. Jessie Levine said Richard Lee is working on putting those numbers together.  She said it 
would not be a terribly expensive sidewalk to construct, and the grant could cover most of its 
cost.  Chad Denning is putting together the grant application; Richard Lee is coming up with cost 
estimates; and David Seastrand is putting together some statistics regarding speeding and number 
of accidents on that road over the years. She added that even if the grant is not won, the Town 
will probably go ahead and construct a sidewalk there at some point in the future, as it has been 
part of the Town’s sidewalk plan since 1998. At this meeting, the Selectmen signed a letter of 
support for this idea to forward to John Corrigan, DOT’s Coordinator of the program. 
 
Middle School Dedication, May 4, 2 p.m.  Mark Kaplan and Brian Prescott committed to 
attending, and Larry Ballin said he will try to do so as well. 
 
Roundabout Project Progress Report: Jessie Levine said that the water main installation 
continues to progress and that all parties are working well together.  She observed that the 
blinking light and pole have been removed at this point. She reported that she has placed a notice 
in the Kearsarge Shopper alerting people that the water line will be coming through that 
intersection the week of May 5. Also, there is an electronic sign with that notification placed in 
front of Ledyard Bank now.  Selectmen suggested that she make clear to people that the May 5 
intersection crossing will be the water line, not the construction of the roundabout itself, which 
will not occur until early August.  Jessie Levine agreed, and added that she is sending individual 
letters to immediate abutters explaining those dates and also advising them that as Edmunds 
moves its work downhill, it will be bringing its entire operation -- equipment and vehicles along 
with it -- and some may be parked in rights-of-way in front of businesses for a period of time.  
 
Joint Board (Assessing):  Jessie Levine reported that Karen Hoglund has expressed interest in 
serving as New London’s resident representative on this Board.  All three Selectmen agreed that 
with her expertise in the real estate field, as well as her years of service as a Fire Ward, she would 
be an ideal candidate.  Mark Kaplan said that before a final appointment is made, he would just 
like to contact one other qualified individual to ascertain whether or not that person might be 
interested as well.  Both candidates should be interviewed by the Selectmen, which Jessie Levine 
will arrange. 
 
Conservation Commission Appointment:  Larry Ballin said he would love to have Sue Clough 
on the Conservation Commission, but given that Emma Crane has served only one term so far, he 
nominated her for a second three-year term to the open position on this Board.  Brian Prescott 
seconded. No further discussion. Motion unanimously approved.  Larry Ballin added that the 
Solid Waste Commission really needs to get up and running, and hopefully, Sue Clough can be 
instrumental there.   
 



Town of New London  April 28, 2008 
Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes Page 4 of 6 
 
 
Mark Kaplan opened discussion of the idea of a Selectman ex officio on the Conservation 
Commission.  Larry Ballin said that the Selectman and Budget Committee do have an obligation 
to participate in that Board’s discussions when necessary. Having said that though, he said he 
does not feel it necessary to have a permanent ex officio representative there.  If one is appointed 
to the Conservation Commission, that may mean that one should be appointed to all other 
committees as the Energy Committee and Solid Waste Committee. Jessie Levine pointed out that 
this whole discussion was generated by a one-time event—that is, the Clark Pond land warrant 
article.  During the bulk of its meetings, the Conservation Commission deals with issues as trails, 
easement monitoring, etc. Only every few years does it discuss the possibility of purchasing land. 
She said she will forward the Commission’s agendas and minutes to the Selectmen, and all 
meetings are open to the public.  
 

Committee Reports 

 
o Planning Board. Larry Ballin reported that the College received approval to renovate the 

basements of three of its dorm buildings into garden suites.  These will house 40 students. He 
said the College has not yet brought forward a final parking plan, but noted that the College 
does understand the Town’s interest in seeing low impact development methods 
implemented, including those addressing water and runoff issues.   Brian Prescott asked why 
the Planning Board approved only part of this plan. Larry Ballin said they look upon it as a 
two-phase project. The College is anxious to complete construction before next September. 
They will not receive a Certificate of Occupancy until final plans including for parking have 
been approved.   

 
He and Jessie Levine reported that DOT was also present at that meeting to discuss the 
increase to 122 spaces of the Exit 12 Park & Ride. Jessie Levine said DOT communicated 
issues surrounding the possibility of an Indian burial ground being located in that vicinity, as 
well as wetland issues and the problem of runoff from the highway there. She said they are 
proposing two phases. Phase one will increase from 45 to 75 spaces the lower level by 
expanding that out to the right. Phase two will move the upper level backwards toward the 
highway, but specifics depend on the findings relevant to the burial ground.  Larry Ballin 
added that Woody Blunt who operates both Dartmouth Coach and Concord Trailways was 
present at the meeting, and there was substantial discussion regarding the need for a corridor 
there for public transportation.   
 

o CAC.  Jessie Levine said she e-mailed Howard Hoke’s suggestion of utilizing community 
agencies to assist with the Town’s welfare, to Celeste Cook. Also she sent some reading 
material relevant to HB 1645 to Gary Markoff. She and the Selectmen expressed the hope 
that Gary Markoff will be able to attend this afternoon’s hearing on that bill. Jessie Levine 
added that he would be allowed to speak at the hearing, but not on the suggestion of 
switching to a defined contributions system. That is not on the table.   

 
Mark Kaplan referred to Peter Bianchi’s suggestion that the Town Report include the impact 
to the tax rate that passage of all the warrant articles will have (in addition to showing the 
impact of each individual article). He feels that would be an interesting statistic. The other 
two Selectmen and Town Administrator agreed. 

 
o Joint Sewer Committee: Mark Kaplan reported that two issues were discussed during the 

portion of this meeting that was attended by New London representatives:  



Town of New London  April 28, 2008 
Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes Page 5 of 6 
 
 

(a) Consideration is being given to purchasing a compressor that would press all the water out 
of the waste, thus reducing the weight of the material that must be disposed of.  This idea has 
replaced the former idea of purchasing geo-bags. He said a subcommittee will be formed to 
look into this. Larry Ballin said he would be willing to work with Paul Manson on the idea.   
(b) Richard Lee brought up the idea of agreeing on a percentage that New London will pay, 
rather than continue the current system of reading meters.  The Towns use different meters, 
and they are not well coordinated. Mark Kaplan said it is not certain whether or not a 
subcommittee will be formed to look into this idea as well, but Richard Lee will get together 
with Holly and get some information back to Jessie Levine. Everyone understands that that 
change will require an amendment to the inter-municipal agreement.   

 
Other Items: 
 
o Brian Prescott asked about the sign in front of the newly relocated Artisans. He asked if 

removal of the former business’s sign means that the new occupant must conform to the sign 
regulation.  Jessie Levine said that because the post remained in place, that sign was not 
considered abandoned and thus it retains its grandfathered status for the new business there. 
Courts have ruled on similar cases in the past. Even if the post had been removed, there 
would be some question as to whether or not that would be considered abandoned.   

 
o Brian Prescott asked about the work at Elkins Beach. Jessie Levine said that when Bob 

Andrews was Recreation Director, he and the Recreation Commission retained the services of 
Peter Schiess for plans for renovating the entire beach property.  The Board of Selectmen and 
Budget Committee ultimately approved a small portion of the project: expanding the beach 
area and fixing the runoff problem from Elkins Road that annually erodes the beach.  Three 
years ago, Town Meeting approved the funds, but weather has held up work. Last year, the 
funds were encumbered again, and work has begun this spring.  Brian Prescott asked if there 
is any problem with removing part of the stone wall there. She said not that she is aware of.  

 
o Brian Prescott asked about the status of the bandstand funds. Jessie Levine said those were 

willed to the Town of New London Bandstand Committee. The Selectmen accepted the gift 
and placed them under the purview of the Trustees of the Trust Funds.  She said that Town 
Counsel has advised against transferring them to a private group as the Community Center 
group, since the money is considered public funds. It would be all right to have a private 
group administer the funds, as long as they are administered according to the terms of the 
will. Mark Kaplan explained that there are really two funds: an unrestricted and a restricted 
from which withdrawals cannot be made from the principle.  Larry Ballin asked if the funds 
could be used for the Elkins Bandstand. She said that would be up to the Bandstand 
Committee, which has the authority under the will to spend funds on the arts.  They have 
given money to S.K.I.T. and K.A.T., for example.  

 
Signatures 

 
Selectmen signed the following items: 
 
Applications for Building Permits: 
 

• Clara Cantor, 425 Lakeshore Drive, (Map & Lot 037-008-000) extensive planting of native trees & 
shrubs & path to water – Permit # 08-042 – Approved. 



Town of New London  April 28, 2008 
Board of Selectmen Meeting Minutes Page 6 of 6 
 
 

• Donald & Terry Pavlik, 368 County Road, (Map & Lot 072-013-000) attach a deck to back of house 
and add exterior door – Permit #08-041 – Approved. 

• Amendment - Nancy Stratton, 471 Forest Acres Road, (Map & Lot 119-015-000) rotating addition to 
be square with house – Permit # 07-129 – Approved. 

• Anna Conklin, 521 Burpee Hill Road (Map & Lot 070-013-000) expand bathroom for ADA 
compliance – Permit # 08-043 – Approved 

• Town of New London – Chamber of Commerce Building (Map & Lot 084-009-000) Demolish 
existing building – Permit #08-044 – Approved. 

 
Application for Permanent Sign: 
 

• Gavin Campbell Holdings, LLC, 71 Pleasant St. (Map & Lot 084-078-000) attach to side of building 
a sign for: Ausbon Sargent Land Preservation Trust - Approved 
 

Tax Abatement Recommendation: 

• Harold Buker 1996 Revocable Trust c/o Sallie McAndrew, remove charges relating to lien as the land 
is in the process of being gifted to town. Amount of $60.66 granted for the 2007 tax year. 

• Sunapee Family Trust – Jessica Squires – 68 Herrick Cove Lane, small footprint, swampy frontage, 
abatement in the amount of $1501.91. – Approved.  

• Ruth C. Singer Revocable Trust, 40 Herrick Cove Lane -- Denied. 

• New London Housing Association, c/o Emile Legere Mgmt. Company, 92 Pleasant St. -- Denied 

 
Other: 
 

• Disbursement & payroll voucher week of 4/25/08 -- Approved. 

• Zone Boundary Delineations Service Agreement between Upper Valley Lake Sunapee Regional 
Planning Commission and the Town of New London. – Approved. 

• Planning Services Agreement for 2008 Household Hazardous Waste Collections agreement. – 
Approved. 

• Purchase & Sales Agreement between Eric & Susan Schultz & Town of New London. 

• Governmental Certificate & Promissory Note for Town of New London & Lake Sunapee Bank. 

• Safe Route to Schools Letter of Support to John Corrigan 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Sarah A. Denz 
Recording Secretary 


